
 

 
Mark Williams, Chief Executive 

Agenda for consultative meeting of the Housing 

Task and Finish Forum 
Thursday, 9th September, 2021, 2.00 pm 
 
Members of Housing Task and Finish Forum 

 

Councillors  M Armstrong, K Blakey, O Davey, I Hall, 
P Hayward, D Ledger (Chair), A Moulding, 

H Parr, E Rylance and I Thomas 

 

Venue: Online via the Zoom app 

 
Contact: Alethea Thompson 01395 517653; email 

athompson@eastdevon.gov.uk 

(or group number 01395 517546) 

Date Not Specified 
 
Important - this meeting will be conducted online and recorded by Zoom only. 

Please do not attend Blackdown House.  
Members are asked to follow the Protocol for Remote Meetings  

 

This meeting is being recorded by EDDC for subsequent publication on the Council’s 
website and will be streamed live to the Council’s Youtube Channel at 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCmNHQruge3LVI4hcgRnbwBw 
 

Public speakers are now required to register to speak – for more information please use 
the following link: https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-
meetings/all-other-public-meetings/#article-content  

 
Between 27th July 2021 to 17th January 2022, the Council has delegated much of the 

decision making to officers. Any officer decisions arising from recommendations from a 
consultative meeting can be found here –  
Senior Officer Decision notices - East Devon. 

 
1 Public speaking   

 Information on public speaking is available online. 

 

2 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 7) 

3 Apologies   

4 Declarations of interest   

 Guidance is available online to Councillors and co-opted members on making 
declarations of interest. 

 

5 Matters of urgency   

 Information on matters of urgency is available online. 
 

East Devon District Council 
Blackdown House 

Border Road 

Heathpark Industrial Estate 
Honiton 

EX14 1EJ 

DX 48808 HONITON 

Tel: 01404 515616 

www.eastdevon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

page 1

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/protocol-for-virtual-meetings
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCmNHQruge3LVI4hcgRnbwBw
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-public-meetings/#article-content
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-public-meetings/#article-content
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/senior-officer-decision-notices/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-public-meetings/#article-content
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillor-conduct/councillor-reminder-for-declaring-interests/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/matters-of-urgency/


6 Confidential/exempt items   

 To agree any items to be dealt with after the public (including the press) have 
been excluded.  There are no items which officers recommend should be dealt 
with in this way. 

 

7 Building for the future  (Pages 8 - 15) 

 Levelling up the South West economy with quality, affordable and sustainable 
housing. 

 

8 Feedback on Working Group meeting of 6 September with Exeter City Living   

 Verbal update. 
 

9 Affordable Housing TaFF conclusions report  (Pages 16 - 21) 

 A plan for increasing outputs of affordable/social housing. 

 

 
 

 
Decision making and equalities 

 

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic 
Services Team on 01395 517546 

 

page 2

http://new.eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/committees-and-meetings/decision-making-and-equalities-duties/


EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Minutes of the meeting of Housing Task and Finish Forum held Online via the 

zoom app on 31 March 2021 

 
Attendance list at end of document 

The meeting started at 10.00 am and ended at 11.20 am 
 

 
15    Public speaking  

 

There were no members of the public wishing to speak. 

 
16    Minutes of the previous meeting  

 

The minutes of the previous meeting held on 14 December 2020 were confirmed as a 
true record. 

 
17    Declarations of interest  

 

Declarations of interest. 

Councillor Dan Ledger, Personal, Member of the working group and had been in 
discussion with Middlemarch. 
 

Declarations of interest. 
Councillor Olly Davey, Personal, Exmouth Town Councillor. 

 
18    Matters of urgency  

 

There were no matters of urgency raised at the meeting. 
 

19    Confidential/exempt items  

 

There were no confidential or exempt items. 
 

20    Feedback from Member Working Group meeting with Torbay 

Council's Housing Company representatives  

 

The Service Lead – Place, Assets and Commercialisation advised the Forum that the 
member working group had met with representatives from Torbay Council’s housing 

company (Torvista Homes) the previous day.  The TaFF were reminded that the member 
working group comprised of Councillors Ledger, Thomas and Moulding.  The Strategic 

Lead – Housing, Health and Environment, Strategic Lead – Finance and the Service 
Lead – Place, Assets and Commercialisation had also attended the meeting. 
 

The Service Lead – Place, Assets and Commercialisation explained that Torbay Council 
had previously undertaken a voluntary transfer of its housing stock so was starting with 

no social housing.  The housing company (Torvista Homes) took two years to set up and 
aimed to have stock of 560 units after five years.  It had 360 firm sites, with 200 yet to be 
identified.  This included land already transferred to the Council and other infill sites 

which it would look to infill.  It brought lots of delivery methods together and borrowing 
was from the Council and the PWLB (Public Works Loan Board).  Torbay Council had 

significant resource working on the project.  It was noted that the Service Lead – Place, 
page 3

Agenda Item 2



Housing Task and Finish Forum 31 March 2021 
 

Assets and Commercialisation had presented a range of possible mechanisms to grow 
EDDC stock to the last meeting of the TaFF, and that these had all been broadly 

considered by Torbay Council.  The key messages to take from the meeting with Torbay 
Council’s housing company representatives was that in order to be successful the 
appropriate skills, capacity and finance were required, as well as ‘buy in’ from all.  It was 

also important to acknowledge that it could take five years for a housing company to be 
established and to fulfil its objectives. 

 
The Chair echoed the comments of the Service Lead – Place, Assets and 
Commercialisation and remarked that it had been a very interesting meeting.  Torbay 

Council also offered an incentivising scheme to incentivise people to move to smaller, 
new developments and help free-up larger housing stock. 

 
The Strategic Lead – Housing, Health and Environment commented that Torbay Council 
had been bold and clearly focused on meeting housing need.  This vision was backed up 

with £40m finance and the aim of the housing company was to be a social housing 
provider, as opposed to income generation.  The main driver was poverty.  There was an 

acceptance of the housing company being loss making in the first five years.  Torvista 
Homes Ltd was a not for profit, wholly owned subsidiary of TDA and had the advantage 
of being able to lean on the reliance and ability of TDA.  TDA was created by Torbay 

Council in 2011.  It was a collection of companies offering a wide range of diversified 
services spanning business and property services, workspace management and 

affordable housing.  It was a social enterprise with a board of directors encompassing 
skills from a range of disciplines.  Members were urged to look at the TDA website. 
 

Members agreed that the housing company should be given a chance, with at least a five 
year opportunity for it to become income generating.  The scale of resource needed to be 

right, to enable the right people to be in the right place.  Commitment was needed over 
the medium to long term in order to offer stability and continuity. 
 

It was noted that EDDC was a registered provider and had a vehicle in terms of the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) to deliver affordable housing, and had been doing this 

in relatively small numbers.  The HRA had to be retained in surplus and there were 
existing, competing pressures on the HRA, such as the decarbonisation of all stock over 
the next 20 years, tenant safety and the delivery of affordable housing. 

 
The Portfolio Holder – Sustainable Homes and Communities requested to be included in 

the member working group and this was agreed by the TaFF. 
 
RECOMMENDED:  that Cabinet approve that the Portfolio Holder for Sustainable Homes 

and Communities be included in the membership of the Member Working Group of the 
Housing Task and Finish Forum. 

 
21    Community Led Affordable / Socially Rented Housing - Presentation 

by Middlemarch CIC  

 

The Chair welcomed Steve Watson and Jay Lambe from Middlemarch to the meeting.  

They were community led homes accredited advisers for Middlemarch, previously 
Wessex.  They had been invited to attend the meeting to share their experiences in East 

Devon and further afield.   
 
Steve Watson explained that a Community Land Trust (CLT) was: 

 A not-for-private-profit organisation set up to benefit a specific community. 
page 4

https://tda.uk.net/


Housing Task and Finish Forum 31 March 2021 
 

 CLTs could own land and other assets which were important to a community – 
starting with affordable housing. 

 CLTs held those assets so they were available and affordable for future 
generations. 

 A CLT was open to membership by anyone in the community supporting its aims. 
 
Middlemarch were currently supporting over 60 projects across the South West. In East 

Devon there was a pipeline of projects and seven CLTS supported by Middlemarch (two 
completed).  CLTs tended to take about six years from start to completion of the scheme.  

This was a similar time period to the private sector. 
 
There were two main sources of affordable land: 

 Rural exception sites. 

 Land in public ownership. 

The average land value per dwelling was £7,000.  Middlemarch were working with local 
authorities to identify fragments of land for development rather than whole sites. 

 
CLT’s aspirations were: 

 Housing prioritised for local people. 

 Social rents. 

 Low carbon properties. 

 High quality aesthetically. 

 Locally supported. 

They also hoped to follow the five basic principles of passive house, which relied on the 
constant circulation of air and required virtually no heating system: 

o Ventilation with heat recovery. 
o Airtightness. 
o Thermal bridge free design. 

o Thermal insulation. 
o Passive house windows. 

 
The legal and financial model was that the CLT was the freeholder and the housing 
authority was the leaseholder.  By working with CLTs, housing authority partners could 

build on their asset base. 

 The CLT led the project and owned the freehold 

o Location, numbers of homes, design and occupancy criteria 
o Selects the housing association partner. 

 The housing authority supports the CLT and had a 125-year lease 

o Funds, develops and operates the homes, including land price. 

 Benefits to the CLT: 

o Affordable in perpetuity 
o Prevents sales under the Right to Shared Ownership 

o Party to s.106 agreement 
o Receives ground rent: £4/home/week 
o Local people in housing need had priority. 

 
The funding for this would come from Homes England’s Approved Development 

Programme, East Devon’s Community Housing Fun, section 106 commuted sums and 
Right to Buy receipts. 
 

Middlemarch’s support for community housing groups included: 

 Strategic advice 

 Access to fund 
page 5



Housing Task and Finish Forum 31 March 2021 
 

 Site identification and land acquisition 

 Partnering 

 Planning issues 

 Development risks 

 Communication 

 Project management 

 Training 

 Problem solving 

 Risk management. 
 
It was noted that there was scope for CLTs to get involved in brown field sites, 

developments in town centres and high density housing.  CLTs had an exemption from 
two of three tenants’ Rights to Buy.  There were early indications that CLT properties 

took less management.  It was thought that this was due to the properties being occupied 
by tenants who were local people and already had social networks in the area. 
 

It was suggested that EDDC work with Middlemarch, who may have additional 
knowledge on available sites, and were able to do things EDDC did not currently have 

the capacity for.  The Service Lead – Place, Asset and Commercialisation advised that 
there was unlikely be one single solution for growing the Council’s good quality housing 
stock.  There were many different options to be explored.  CLTs and Torvista Housing 

offered two extreme examples.  The member working group intended to consult with 
approximately six housing companies and a report would be brought back to the TaFF 

for its consideration. 
 
The Strategic Lead – Housing, Health and Environment explained that the role of a 

housing enabler was distinct from the housing landlord role.  EDDC for many years had 
been working with Wessex (Middlemarch) and Devon Community Together.  The Council 

had a service level agreement with Wessex (Middlemarch) and discussions had been 
underway about finding land within the Council’s ownership.  It was planned to have a 
fresh look at this to identify development opportunities.  It was noted that many council 

housing estates had nice landscaped areas and there was a tension between 
maintaining this and not concreting/over developing the estates. 

 
On behalf of the Forum the Chair thanked Steve Watson and Jay Lambe for a very 
interesting and informative presentation. 

 
RESOLVED:  that the Forum note the presentation from Middlemarch. 

 
 
 

 
 

Attendance List 

Councillors present: 

M Armstrong 
K Blakey 
O Davey 

D Ledger (Chair) 
A Moulding 

H Parr 
E Rylance 
I Thomas 

page 6



Housing Task and Finish Forum 31 March 2021 
 

 
Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting) 

P Arnott 
S Chamberlain 
P Faithfull 

M Howe 
G Jung 

J Rowland 
E Wragg 
 
Officers in attendance: 

Tim Child, Service Lead - Place, Assets & Commercialisation 

John Golding, Strategic Lead Housing, Health and Environment 
Wendy Harris, Democratic Services Officer 
Alethea Thompson, Democratic Services Officer 

Jay Lambe, Middlemarch 
Steve Watson, Middlemarch 

 
Councillor apologies: 

I Hall 

 
 

 
 
 

Chairman   Date:  

 

page 7



Building for 
the Future: 
Levelling up the South West’s 
economy with quality, affordable 
& sustainable housingpage 8

A
genda Item

 7



If we learned anything from 2020, it is the importance of 
a safe, secure and warm home. 
At Homes for the South West, our members have long been committed to building 
beautiful and sustainable homes. We create neighbourhoods that work for local 
people, and enhance the built and natural environment for future generations. As 
we look to navigate our way out of the COVID-19 pandemic and fuel the Country’s 
vital economic recovery, high-quality affordable housing has a greater role in 
society than ever before. 

It’s no secret that the UK needs to build more 
homes. We know that housebuilding is one of the 
Government’s preferred methods for reinvigorating 
the economy via job creation and other benefits. 
Furthermore, social and affordable rented homes 
have played a key role during pandemic. We have 
been there in response to the urgent need to take 
rough sleepers off the streets, and we have also 
been there to house our essential workers - the 
bus drivers, shop assistants, care workers and NHS 
staff, who would ordinarily not be able to afford to 
live near their place of work as they help keep the 
country moving. 

COVID-19 has changed our economy, our society 
and the South West with it. But we firmly believe 
housing will be crucial to shaping the future of 
the region. In the following pages we’ve set out 
how, with the right support from Government, 
we can build on our commitment to invest £4bn 
and deliver 25,000 homes over 5 years. We want 
to meet housing need in the South West helping 
to support those hardest hit by the downturn 
and the creation of economic and employment 
opportunities to truly Build Back Better for all.

Victor da Cunha 

Chair, Homes for the South West

Our members are:

2

page 9



Homes for the South West is a 
coalition of some of the largest 
housing associations in South 
West England. We already own 
245,000 homes and house half a 
million people.

To meet housing need in the South West we 
want to work with Government to: 

Deliver new homes quicker through public sector land reform
Land is vital to the delivery of affordable housing and a new partnership will help us to deliver homes 
quicker. The current model is geared towards those that can acquire land as the highest bidder, which 
favours large developers able to ‘land bank’.

We recommend that the current public land disposal strategy be reviewed and that, in future, 
priority for public land should change from cash for Treasury to the provision of public housing.

Double the number of homes we can build
We are already planning to build 25,000 homes over the next five years but we can build another 20,000 
with the right support from Government. To address historic underinvestment in the South West, we’re 
calling for an additional £1 billion from Government to meet housing need in the region. 

With that £1bn from Government we can attract another £3bn in private financing to build the 
homes using new Modern Methods of Constuction.

Offer greater flexibility to deliver more affordable homes 
We want to be able to adapt the types of homes we build to meet demand in different market conditions. 
The most effective way to do this would be for Government to allow us to decide what ‘tenure’ our homes 
would be on practical completion of the property. This would give Housing Associations greater scope to 
adapt to changes in the market and help to meet local need more effectively.

Now we’re committing to a £4bn investment programme that will deliver 25,000 homes 
over the next five years.

To meet our ambitious target, we need to build differently and we are committing to 
building 25% of our homes using Modern Methods of Construction.

This investment will have a wider economic benefit – helping to support the employment of 
77,500 people and provide 850 apprentice, graduate or trainee roles. 

But we have the capacity in our organisations to do more. To meet housing need in the 
South West 42,000 homes are required per year, with around 15,000 of those homes 
needing to be affordable homes. We can build more homes, quicker, with the right support 
from Government to address the significant gap between need and supply.

3

page 10



The power of housebuilding in 
COVID-19 recovery
Investment in affordable housing is one of the best ways to support the South West’s economic 
and social recovery following the COVID-19 pandemic. In most areas of the country, there are 
potential savings in welfare spending by moving families receiving housing benefits into social or 
affordable rented accommodation – on average £1,250 annually.1

Creates jobs Housebuilding creates jobs, both in construction and 
in the supply chain. Every £1 spent on construction 
output generates £2.84 in economic activity.2

Reduces financial 
pressures on the 
Treasury 

For every £1 spent on construction, there is a 56p 
benefit to the Exchequer from increased tax revenues 
and reduced benefits payments as the activity 
stimulates employment growth.3

Supports the 
levelling-up 
agenda

Providing training, skills and opportunities 
and supporting the establishment of new and 
innovative industries.

Increases 
confidence

Building the confidence of consumers, investors and 
developers will be key to the UK’s economic recovery 
and will ensure the country keeps moving forward. 

Building more homes: 

4

page 11



Making the case for the 
South West recovery

At the moment, the very real 
inequalities which have long 
existed in the South West, 
are not being addressed

Contrary to how it’s often described, there is not one single ‘housing market’ in the 
UK, but rather a mix of markets across the country, each with some unique and 
some common factors. The South West is no different. Its popularity means that 
in some areas house prices are prohibitively high, up to fourteen times that of the 
average annual income.4 In other areas of the South West, the prevalence of low-
wage employment and a lack of digital connectivity means there is an urgent need 
for the investment and ‘levelling-up’ which is more traditionally associated with the 
north of England.5 

This focus on the north - south divide in the context of the ‘levelling-up’ agenda needs to change. At 
the moment, the very real inequalities which have long existed in other regions of the UK, including the 
South West, are not being addressed. 

The impact of COVID-19 has exacerbated the twin problems in the region of high house prices and a 
reliance on the tourism and hospitality industries for employment. The effects of the virus have been 
greatly felt by residents. 

5

page 12



The South West is 
both unique and 
ambitious, with an 
economy that was 
valued at £64 billion 
before the pandemic

The South West has been the worst hit region of the UK for 
job disruption during the COVID-19 pandemic.6 Cornwall alone 
receives a third of its annual income from the tourism industry, 
and was hit by a 34% drop in GVA in the second quarter of 2020, 
putting an estimated 72,800 jobs at risk across the county.7

At the same time, house prices in the South West have risen by 
6.4% in the year to the end of September 2020, compared with 
a UK average of 4.7%.8 This has been attributed, in large part, to 
a ‘flight’ from cities as homeowners rethink their lifestyles in the 
context of homeworking. 

The South West is both unique and ambitious, with an economy 
that was valued at £64 billion before the pandemic.9 It plans to 
become England’s greenest economy, providing its largest carbon 
sink and pioneering zero-carbon food production and farming 
alongside alternative and innovative energy production methods. 
It is also the home of growing industrial clusters in marine, defence 
and engineering. 

If we are to support the workers on whom substantial portions 
of the regional South West economy relies, as well as feed the 
growth of exciting new industry hubs and businesses, we need the 
right types of homes in the right places. This will be fundamental 
to both driving up productivity and reducing unemployment 
rates. Building new homes, affordable to local employees, will 
support the regional recovery and enable people to work near 
their place of work whilst driving construction supply chains and 
creating thousands of jobs in the future. The multiplier effect of 
construction is enormous – for every £1 spent, £2.84 is generated 
in economic activity10 – and should be exploited for social and fiscal 
benefits as we recover from COVID-19.

6

page 13



own 245,000  
homes

house half a  
million people

Collectively we:

What Homes for the South West 
members are already delivering.

have nearly 7,000 
employees

contribute £1bn to 
the local economy

We’re committed to building beautiful, safe, and 
sustainable homes. In 2019/20 alone we have delivered 

more than 3,000 affordable homes:  

1,298 
homes for 

affordable rent

731
 homes for 
social rent

1,079 
homes for 

affordable sale

The National Housing Federation Local Economic Impacts 
Calculator estimates that these new homes equate to more 

than £412.9 million GVA added to the South West economy as 
well as supporting 8,250 jobs in the region across the year.11  

But we could do more… 
We want to work with Government to: 

Deliver new homes quicker through public sector land reform
Land is vital to the delivery of affordable housing, which is why a new partnership 
will help us to deliver homes quicker. We recommend that the current public 
land disposal strategy be reviewed and that, in future, priority for public land 
should change from cash for Treasury to the provision of public housing.

Double the number of homes we can build
We are already planning to build 25,000 homes over the next five years but 
we can build another 20,000 with the right support from Government. With 
an additional £1 billion from Government, we can attract another £3 billion in 
private financing to deliver the affordable and sustainable housing the South 
West needs.

Offer greater flexibility to deliver more affordable homes 
Flexibility is crucial for Housing Associations to be able to not only meet local 
need more effectively, but also to meet demand in different market conditions. 
We recommend that the existing way in which grant can be used be changed 
to allow Housing Associations to decide what ‘tenure’ our homes would be on 
practical completion of the property. This would ensure that housing outputs 
from our members remains strong through an unpredictable economic climate.

152
 homes for market 

sale and rent

7

page 14



@Homes4SW

homesforthesouthwest@gmail.com 

https://homesforthesouthwest.co.uk

References:
1. https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/1637012/Capital_Economics_Confidential_-_Final_report_-_25_October_2018.pdf

2. https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/1637012/Capital_Economics_Confidential_-_Final_report_-_25_October_2018.pdf

3. https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/1637012/Capital_Economics_Confidential_-_Final_report_-_25_October_2018.pdf

4. https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/housingaffordabilityinenglandandwales/2019 

5. file:///C:/Users/cummingsj/Downloads/Nov%202020%20-Employee%20Jobs%20Paid%20Below%20the%20Living%20Wage%20LWF%20Report.pdf 

6. https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/app/uploads/2020/06/Local-differences.pdf 

7. https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/media/43352890/impact-of-covid-19-on-cornwall-13-may-2020.pdf

8. https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-54986071 

9. https://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/documents/s91911/Great%20South%20West%20Prospectus%20Securing%20Our%20Future%20App1.pdf

10. https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/1637012/Capital_Economics_Confidential_-_Final_report_-_25_October_2018.pdf

11. https://www.housing.org.uk/resources/local-economic-impact-calculator/

page 15

https://twitter.com/Homes4SW
mailto:homesforthesouthwest%40gmail.com?subject=
https://homesforthesouthwest.co.uk/
https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/1637012/Capital_Economics_Confidential_-_Final_report_-_25_October_2018.pdf
https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/1637012/Capital_Economics_Confidential_-_Final_report_-_25_October_2018.pdf
https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/1637012/Capital_Economics_Confidential_-_Final_report_-_25_October_2018.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/housingaffordabilityinenglandandwales/2019 
https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/app/uploads/2020/06/Local-differences.pdf 
https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/media/43352890/impact-of-covid-19-on-cornwall-13-may-2020.pdf
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-54986071
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/DemocraticServices/documents/s91911/Great%20South%20West%20Prospectus%20Securing%20Our%20Future%20App1.pdf
https://assets.ctfassets.net/6sxvmndnpn0s/19Sv5Wb6YBX1W1uE9Dgo5t/242fe386e414677380802b0c9afc847d/Capital_Economics_Confidential_-_Final_report_-_25_October_2018.pdf
https://www.housing.org.uk/resources/local-economic-impact-calculator/


Report to: Choose a meeting 

 

Date of Meeting 9th September 2021 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Affordable Housing TaFF – A plan for increasing outputs of affordable/social housing. 

Report summary: 

This report pulls together the work of the TaFF and makes a series of suggestions for delivering 
an increase in the supply of new affordable and social housing. Having explored a variety of 

housing delivery options it is recognised that there is no single panacea and adopting a range of 
delivery vehicles will most likely achieve the ambition of a ‘step change’ in the output of 
affordable/social housing. 

Such a change requires considerable commitment, investment, resources, skills and opportunities. 
The provision of affordable housing is costly and social housing even more so. Developing and 

sustaining a pipeline of new build housing schemes will require a dedicated task force or project 
team with a range of skill sets to give us the best chance of achieving the stated ambitions. It will 
require a risk appetite and a financial model that demonstrates that programmes are financially 

viable over the long-term. 

This report makes some suggestions for how the ambition can be achieved for the purpose of 

discussion. 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

That the Housing TaFF recommend to Cabinet and Council the recommendations set out in 
section four of the report. 

 

Reason for recommendation: 

To further the ambitions to deliver an increased output of social and affordable housing to meet 
the housing needs of East Devon residents. 

This is a discussion document with proposals put forward for consideration that will achieve an 
increase in social/affordable housing output. 

 

Officer: John Golding Strategic Lead – Housing, Health & Environment. 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☐ Climate Action and Emergencies 

☐ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

page 16

Agenda Item 9



☐ Culture, Tourism, Leisure and Sport 

☐ Democracy and Transparency 

☐ Economy and Assets 

☐ Finance 

☒ Strategic Planning 

☒ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

Equalities impact Medium Impact 

If choosing High or Medium level outline the equality considerations here, which should include 

any particular adverse impact on people with protected characteristics and actions to mitigate 
these.  Link to an equalities impact assessment form using the equalities form template. 

Climate change Medium Impact 

Risk: Medium Risk; Click here to enter text on risk considerations relating to your report. 

Links to background information Click here to enter links to background information; 

appendices online; and previous reports.  These must link to an electronic document.  Do not 
include any confidential or exempt information. 

Link to Council Plan:  

Priorities (check which apply) 

☐ Outstanding Place and Environment  

☒ Outstanding Homes and Communities 

☐ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity 

☒ Outstanding Council and Council Services 

 
 

1. Background 

1.1 Through the Affordable Housing TaFF (initially the Housing Company TaFF) we have 
explored a range of delivery models for affordable and social housing in an attempt to 

discover a method for increasing the output of housing to meet the needs of households 
who require subsidised, good quality, affordable housing in the district. Our ambition is to 
make a ‘step change’ in the output of housing to meet the needs of low income households 

in housing need. 
 

1.2 The TaFF has held meetings in May 2020; October 2020; December 2020; and March 2021 
with a Member Working Group undertaking some meetings with external organisations 
working to a similar agenda and feeding back learning to the TaFF. Further meetings are 

planned in September. 

1.3 Like many local authorities we have in the past fifty years relied on a model that favours 

delivery of affordable housing through Housing Associations then Registered Providers, 
taking advantage of available government funding delivered through The Housing 
Corporation now Homes England, and opportunities generated through the planning 

system. It has been many years since Councils delivered large numbers of new homes as 
is evident with the aging stock profile of most local authorities who have retained their 

housing stock.  

1.4 We have flirted with a Housing Company model by establishing East Devon Homes with an 
initial focus on market renting with the express aim of making a surplus from this activity in 

the initial years. This has not proven possible from a financial viability perspective despite 
exploring a number of sites and opportunities. Conflicting priorities for existing staff, 

ambitious financial projections, and no dedicated staff resource have also not enhanced the 
chances of success. 

page 17

http://eddcintranet/equalities/equality-impact-assessment-guidance-and-forms/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/new-council-plan/index.htm


1.5 Our Housing Strategy prioritises a decent home for all and our Council Plan prioritises 
better homes and communities. Similarly the Housing Service Plan seeks to optimise 

affordable/social housing delivery. More affordable and social housing is a clear priority for 
the Council. 

1.6  In terms of housing need the ambition to increase the supply of affordable and social 
housing fits well with our evidence of need through the housing register, homeless 
approaches and survey data. The local housing market is expensive with demand far 

exceeding supply, a small private rented sector and reductions in availability due to second 
homes and holiday lets. This all combines to make it very difficult for low income 

households to secure a suitable home. 

1.7 In the last decade we have enabled an output of 200-300 new affordable homes per annum 
operating the traditional delivery model. Our HRA contribution towards this output is 20-30 

homes per annum, almost exclusively the acquisition of existing market properties. 

1.8 We currently have one part-time Enabling Officer on our staff with some support from our 

Housing Project Officer. We call upon consultancy advice when required and senior officers 
for support and guidance. Our colleagues in Legal, Property & Estates, Finance and 
Planning also support the current programme delivery. Remarkably this limited capacity 

delivers the above programme in partnership with Registered Providers. 

1.9 There are few shortcuts to providing social/affordable housing it requires a strong political 

will and prioritisation, alongside resources and skills to compete in the housing market. 
When these factors come together we can deliver meaningful change and assist more 
households in need into a suitable, affordable, decent home. 

1.10 Members have signalled a desire to increase the output of social/affordable housing and 
this discussion document explores the implications of turning this ambition into a reality. 

2. Learning through the work of the Taff 

2.1 The terms of reference for the TaFF were to - assist the Council in ensuring East Devon 
Homes Limited (the Council’s housing company) is fit for purpose by re-evaluating the 

business model, considering alternative business models, its role in the delivery of housing 
generally and how it might meet the aspirations of the Council in relation to affordable 

housing, working with the Housing Review Board and the Housing Revenue Account to 
explore options for housing delivery. 

2.2 Members wanted to take a fresh look at housing delivery options and came to the 

conclusion that the housing company model was not the most appropriate vehicle to meet 
what the TaFF sought to achieve, which was a desire to increase social housing. The 

Council is a Registered Provider and does provide new social housing through its Housing 
Revenue Account activities. 

2.3 At its October 2020 meeting the TaFF looked at the business model for East Devon Homes 

and an overview of housing need in the district, and identified several areas for investigation 
including the experience of other local authorities who had created housing companies, 

methods for passive house and modular construction, innovation in the sector, and 
delivering green social housing policy. It also became evident that providing additional 
affordable/social housing at scale and pace had many challenges. 

2.4 At the December 2020 meeting the TaFF considered a report on the options for delivering 
more affordable/social housing. This included an annex that looked at delivery mechanisms, 

which provides a useful template for our plans going forward. 

2.5 The March 2021 meeting received feedback from a meeting and presentation from Torbay’s 
housing company, Torvista Homes. This was established after a stock transfer and used a 

variety of delivery routes to achieve its goals. Torbay had invested significantly in the 
company which is a not for profit, wholly owned subsidiary of TDA. 

page 18



2.6 Also in the March 2021 meeting the TaFF had a presentation from Middlemarch CIC who 
we work with to enable Community Land Trusts in the South West. The model, purpose and 

delivery of the CLT programme was explained and its relevance to rural communities. We 
also explored rural exception site policy and rural housing needs surveys and their role in 

providing small scale development in our villages. 

2.7 Further discussions are planned with Exeter City Living the Exeter City owned housing 
company who are a for profit limited company who reinvest into frontline public services, 

with a profit for purpose ethos. 

2.8 Following discussions at the TaFF the Council’s housing company East Devon Homes has 

been wound up and remains dormant (December 2020 TaFF minutes to Cabinet) largely 
because as indicated above the priority is for affordable/social housing and the Council 
through the HRA already had a Registered Provider vehicle to provide and manage social 

housing. This may still provide a useful tool in the development armoury if the Council’s 
ambitions and risk appetite change going forwards. 

3. Increasing the output of social/affordable homes 

3.1 The TaFF has discovered that a variety of delivery methods exist for increasing the output 
of affordable/social housing and that there is no ‘one size fits all’ . We need to embrace a 

variety of delivery models and apply the most appropriate to the situation. This might 
include some market housing to achieve a viable scheme. 

3.2 It has also been evident that considerable resources and finance are required to deliver a 
consistent and meaningful pipeline of new housing schemes. This is best achieved with a 
dedicated team with a range of skills and attributes that are focused on development in a 

competitive and commercial housing market. We need to recognise that HRA resources are 
healthy, but subject to competing pressures from decarbonisation and modernisation 

projects, tenant safety and catch up repairs. The stock condition survey will inevitably throw 
up significant additional cost and the requirements around compliance issues and building 
safety are set to be more onerous, meaning additional investment will be required. We also 

need to recognise that social housing invariably requires more subsidy than affordable 
housing. 

3.3 In respect of housing finance a simple analysis shows that the cost of providing subsidised 
housing, be it social or affordable housing rents, requires government grant, developer 
contribution, cheap or subsidised land and/or competitive build rate for a scheme to be 

financially viable. The income from these subsidised rents will rarely meet the cost of 
borrowing for land and construction costs, developer profit, fees etc. unless there is a form 

of subsidy injected into the project. This simple fact of affordable housing development 
economics will restrict our ability to develop unless we can tap into new forms of subsidy, 
grants and/or borrowing. 

3.4 The HRA Development Fund stands at over £3 million. Useable HRA Right to Buy Receipts 
can be added to the fund and will vary according to the number of sold properties. This will 

provide short-term development funding to initiate new build schemes, but it is imperative 
that this is supplemented by other sources of funding if we are to be able to sustain a 
pipeline of schemes. There is a reality check issue here in that new build is hugely 

expensive and the costs are not met through rental income. A viable scheme typically 
comes through subsidised land, grant for development, planning obligations or some other 

form of subsidy that brings costs down closer to the borrowing that can be financed through 
rental income. 

3.5 I believe that it is imperative that we do all in our power to enable Registered Providers to 

maintain a healthy supply of new affordable housing. We are best placed to do this through 
our Enabling Officer working with RPs, Planners, Legal, funders, Towns & Parishes, 

community land trusts, land owners and others to smooth the way for projects. Enabling 
typically involved facilitating development by identifying RPs for projects, supplying housing 

page 19



needs evidence, etc. We need an additional Enabling Officer post to manage the increased 
workload our enhanced ambitions will generate. 

3.6 In addition, we require our own dedicated task force or project team to drive the ambition 
forward. Initially project management skills are required with many development tasks being 

outsourced, but we can build up surveying, clerk of works, land buying and other areas of 
expertise as we can justify appointments through a programme of development projects. 
We will eventually need access to development skills including – land assembly; viability & 

feasibility; planning; valuation; surveying; quantity surveying; contracting; clerk of 
works/project management; architectural etc. The will require ongoing revenue support to 

sustain its work. 

3.7 I have approached LiveWest a large Registered Provider based in East Devon who deliver 
most of the affordable housing in the district, to see if they are able to provide development 

support and expertise. This might be available until we have established a pipeline of 
schemes and grown a project team.  

3.8 We also have an ability to commission additional support from Middlemarch at a day rate. 
We have an agreement with Middlemarch to support CLT delivery in the district for a set 
fee. They have the skillsets set out above and we can buy this in to assist us in our 

ambition. 

3.9 Planning policy can make a huge difference in affordable housing delivery despite 

government guidance prioritising viability and some forms of housing that we may not 
consider genuinely affordable. We have an opportunity in preparing a new Local Plan to 
ensure that our adopted policy supports and optimises the opportunities for affordable 

housing delivery. 

3.10 Helpfully Advantage South West our procurement club we belong to has produced a set of 

standard house type designs that we could use to speed up the delivery of schemes. Most 
volume building Registered Providers have standard house types that are adapted for sites 
and according to need, planning conditions, site conditions etc. 

3.11 There are significant capital and revenue implications involved in achieving these ambitions 
and a fully costed appraisal has not been undertaken at this stage. I have referred to 

investment and this will need to be quantified if the recommendations below are supported. 

4. Recommendations emerging from the TaFF  

4.1 Having considered the evidence presented to the TaFF to date I would conclude for the 

purposes of discussion that in order to achieve our ambitions of a ‘step change’ in output of 
new social/affordable housing we need to adopt some or all of the following 

recommendations: 

 Creation of a social housing task force through a combination of new 

appointments and secondments into a dedicated, single purpose, multi-disciplinary 

team managed within the Housing Service; 
 Confirm increased output of social/affordable housing as a Council Plan priority; 

 Establish a member Social Housing Delivery Group to support and oversee the 

delivery of social/affordable housing; 
 Implement the range of delivery options contained in the report to the December 

2020 TaFF; 
 Recruit additional Enabling Officers to work in the social housing task force to 

support Registered Providers; Community Land Trusts and the Council deliver more 
social/affordable housing; 

 Recruit a project manager to build up a programme of development projects and 

manage the specialist professions input required to deliver social/affordable housing 
projects; 

 Identify and create secondment opportunities within the Council; 

page 20



 Source support from an Registered Provider partner with a strong track record in 
development to help us ‘kick start’ a development programme; 

 Establish a pipeline of development opportunities to form a programme of 

sites/schemes; 

 Undertake an audit of corporate sites and identify any suitable for housing 
development; 

 Operate a site finding, feasibility and viability process with a view to land banking 

sites that contribute to the pipeline; 
 Promote the Council as preferred developer through the planning system; 

 Align Planning Policy with affordable housing ambitions to optimise output of 
social/affordable housing; 

 We need to consider our risk appetite and produce a risk register that allows us to 

make calculated development risks; 
 Utilise the HRA development fund and develop funding models that enable us to 

sustain a pipeline of social/affordable housing development; 
 Produce a fully costed project appraisal document for the task force/project team. 

4.2 I believe that in order to achieve the increase in social/affordable housing output we need to 

embrace all of the above and more. We need to be creative, methodical and committed. 
There are no quick wins to achieve our ambition, the key ingredients will be investment, 

clarity of purpose, securing the right skills at the right time, risk appetite and sustaining a 
focus on the outcomes that deliver a decent home for all. 

 

Financial implications: 

 To be completed by Finance. 

Legal implications: 

 To be completed by Legal. 

 

page 21


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Building for the future
	9 Affordable Housing TaFF conclusions report

